2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Roger Wayne Simmons,
Defendant/ Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND JURISDICTION

Appeal from a conviction for Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol/Drugs, a third degree felony in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6A-502; Alcohol Restricted Driver, a class B misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6A-530; Operating a Vehicle Without an Ignition Interlock System, a class B misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6A-518.2(3) in the Third District Court, State of Utah, the Honorable, Richard McKelvie, Judge, presiding.

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES & STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the district court erred in failing to resolve Mr. Simmons' objections to inaccuracies in the presentence report as required by Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(6)(a).

- a. Standard of Review: "Whether the district court complied with its legal duties under section 77-18-1(6)(a) 'is a question of law that we

review for correctness.” *State v. Abelon*, 2016 UT App 22, ¶ 11, 369 P.3d 113 (quoting *State v. Veteto*, 2000 UT 62, ¶ 13, 6 P.3d 1133).

- b. Preservation of the Argument: Mr. Simmons repeatedly brought up his concerns that the presentence report was inaccurate. *See e.g.*, R. 94-99, 143-243, 273-85, 349-454. Mr. Simmons made most of these requests pro se when he was represented by counsel. However, the district court addressed Mr. Simmons’ concerns, so the matter was preserved. In the event it was not, counsel ineffectively failed to ask the court to comply with section 77-18-1(6)(a).

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The texts of the relevant Constitutional provisions and statutes are in Addendum A and B.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Simmons was charged on January 12, 2015. R. 1-6. On August 3, 2015, Mr. Simmons entered a guilty plea to three counts of the information. R. 79-87. On November 9, 2015, the court sentenced Mr. Simmons to prison after it rejected Simmons’ request to amend and correct the PSR. R. 254-57; 268-307. On December 7, 2015, Mr. Simmons appealed to this court. R. 258-63.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to sentencing, Mr. Simmons told the court over a voluminous number of pages that there were serious issues with his presentence report (“PSR”). R. 94-

99, 143-243, 273-85, 349-454. He claimed that the PSR “contained false information in each and every section” and duplicate convictions, that it failed to account for offenses which had been reduced offenses or placed in abeyance, and that it failed to accurately reflect the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. R. 99, 152, 163.

Mr. Simmons also said that a prior PSR prepared by AP&P (and which they duplicated for this sentencing proceeding) was grossly inaccurate and that he had sent Adult Probation and Parole (“AP&P”) 110 pages of material which it neglected to incorporate into that erroneous PSR. R. 99, 124, 140. In the 110 pages, he claimed that he answered over 200 questions from AP&P, detailing how he took responsibility for the crime and had sought to better himself through treatment. R. 140-43. According to Mr. Simmons, an AP&P officer told him that they had never received so much information from a defendant and that he would “try to keep me out of prison because of my excellent employment, support and the fact that I had been proactive and was in treatment—however this officer did not write the report.” R. 144. For example, Mr. Simmons told AP&P to research his BCI to determine his criminal history. The officer, however, reported on the PSR that Simmons “did not disclose prior offenses,” when Mr. Simmons merely directed them to review their documentation. R. 145.

Mr. Simmons gave the court several examples of errors in the PSR before the court. He said that he had only had “one prior commitment” which was in 2004 and that all other convictions should note that jail time was suspended and

that he had successfully completed probation. R. 175. He indicated that some convictions were actually pleas in abeyance which should not have been part of his criminal history, including, but not limited to a simple assault in 2000. R. 175. The PSR said that Simmons paid a fine and did one-day class for one of his convictions, but in reality, Simmons paid \$2,500 and on his own went to a higher level of treatment at Highland Ridge. R. 175. Simmons claimed to have never been charged with an offense of domestic violence, contrary to the PSR. R. 176. He had never consumed alcohol when under supervision and never failed random drug tests, despite the PSR's claims to the contrary. R. 201. He said that the criminal history included dismissed charges, acquitted charges, pleas in abeyance, infractions, diversions and duplicate charges where the state had dismissed and refiled later. R. 176, 186. The cumulative effect of this lengthy, but erroneous, criminal history made it "look like I have many more charges than truthful." R. 176. In reality, Mr. Simmons said that he should have only had three priors: two prior third degree felony DUIs, one from 2004 and one from 2011 in which he successfully finished probation. R. 180. He said he should only have one class A misdemeanor in 2004. R. 180.

Mr. Simmons also alleged that the PSR inaccurately stated that he failed to validate his high school graduation and that his lack of education was a risk factor for criminality. R. 202. Mr. Simmons indicated that he was a N.C. Honor Scholar in high school and that he had degrees from BYU and the University of Utah in computer engineering. R. 202. The PSR specified that Mr. Simmons had

employment risks, but failed to “mention that I have an exceptional career and professional contacts—and that I was employed prior to incarceration” which was included in the documentation he provided to AP&P. R. 202-03. He said that “programs, treatment and things I have done and accomplished were left out entirely.” R. 203. Indeed, Simmons provided the court with his own, more accurate, PSR, which had a recommendation of 90 days to six months in jail with three years probation. R. 204-242.

Mr. Simmons asserted that AP&P failed to use the 2015 amendments to the sentencing guidelines in his case and that without more accurate information, the court was being forced to consider an incomplete PSR. R. 130-31, 216. He asserted that he had limited contact with his appointed counsel and had been unable to help secure the presentation of this evidence to the court. R. 127-31. He also expressed concerns about the PSR’s accuracy because the document is “long-lived and future decisions are made based on these documents long after sentencing.” R. 201.

At sentencing, held November 9, 2015, the court stated that Mr. Simmons had “submitted several voluminous documents to the court outlining his view of the sentencing process.” R. 270-71. Defense counsel told the court that while he did not file the documents, he had discussed self-representation with Simmons, but felt like “that’s something that probably in turn Mr. Simmons would need to address with the Court directly.” R. 271. Defense counsel was concerned that AP&P would not consider Mr. Simmons’ proposed changes to the PSR. This came

from his discussion with the AP&P agent who told counsel the supplemental information "wouldn't change anything":

She made a lot of conclusory statements to me to the effect of he's been incarcerated, absolutely nothing will change, which I found very curious and concerning. Because certainly there is information of what could be going on, things such as classes, and I pointed that out to Agent Gibbons is it would at least be relevant to put in a new report. And she seemed to very quickly dismiss any of those notions, not think they were at the least bit important.

R. 271-72. Counsel was concerned that AP&P did not perform an interview of Mr. Simmons, as he requested and as the court had ordered, and only simply said that Mr. Simmons refused it (and was even dismissive of subsequent requests for one).

R. 272. Counsel asked the court to address Mr. Simmons' sentencing issues. R. 272-73.

Mr. Simmons told the court he did not want to delay the case, but that he only wanted an "honest PSI." R. 273. He said he had requested an interview on multiple occasions but was told AP&P had no intention of doing one. R. 273. He said that he had outlined multiple errors in the PSR and that it was not enough to "verbally update" the document because "[d]ecisions are made at a later date based on that PSR beyond sentencing. It's a long-lived document." R. 273-75.

The State responded that it did not believe that "having an additional PSR ... would be beneficial or necessary" since Mr. Simmons was able to place additional documents on the record. R. 276. The court responded that it had reviewed Mr. Simmons' documents and filings and observed that most of his complaints seemed to be with the process "as opposed to any of the factual

underpendings [sic]." R. 277. Nowhere in Mr. Simmons' pleadings, the court claimed, "did I see any indication that you believe that the underlying facts [in the PSR] were incorrect." R. 278. The court labeled Simmons' motions "much ado about not much." R. 278. Even though the document was "a record that follows you along," the court said, "the only substantive question" for the court was whether Simmons should serve a concurrent or consecutive prison sentence since "no other sentence other than that makes any sense under the circumstances." R. 278.

Mr. Simmons again emphasized that "decisions are made later on based on that PSR, which is incorrect." For example, Mr. Simmons asserted the PSR's incorrect statement that "he offended while under supervision" could result in a harsher Board sentence. R. 279. Simmons complained about much more than procedure. He feared he would be sentenced to prison based on a "PSR that's grossly incorrect, that did not contain anything that I provided to AP&P." R. 278-79. He said that he wanted simply "a correct PSR, to do one that's honest, complete and correct." R. 279-80. He again claimed he had never been in contact with AP&P and never refused to do an interview, but only wanted a witness present. R. 279-82.

The court rejected Mr. Simmons' request to address the issues with the PSR or to modify it:

Well, you have filed your documents, including your version of the PSR which is part of the Court's record. And I think that given the fact that AP&P has prepared, presented a PSR, you've obviously

objected to its contents, your objections are on the record, your objections can also be made to the Parole Board. Your objections not only are on the record, but you've provided documentation regarding why you believe the PSR is inaccurate and unfair. Those are documents and arguments that you can also present to the Board of Pardons if that becomes necessary. Therefore, I'm not inclined to continue the sentencing in this matter. I want to go forward with the sentencing today. And so I'd like you to address that issue specifically.

R. 283. After hearing from the parties, the court then sentenced Mr. Simmons to a consecutive term at the prison after Mr. Simmons again reminded the court of several inaccuracies in the PSR, for example that he accepted responsibility and had done treatment. R. 293-97.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court has a statutory and legal obligation to make a determination about the relevance and accuracy of the presentence report when a defendant makes specific objections to that report. Mr. Simmons' repeatedly told the court that his presentence report was not accurate. While the court appears to have considered his documentation and filings, the court did not review the 110-pages Mr. Simmons' claimed had not been attached to the report, nor did it make the required findings. Because Mr. Simmons claimed that these errors were pervasive, particularly that they grossly overstated his criminal history, the effect of the court's errors may well require resentencing.

In the event that the State were to assert that this issue was not preserved, then defense counsel ineffectively failed to specifically request that the court make the required findings. The court also abused its discretion in failing to inquire into

a potential conflict between defense counsel and Mr. Simmons regarding the need to correct these issues in the PSR.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

The trial court erred in failing to make findings as to the relevance and accuracy of Mr. Simmons' presentence report

According to the Utah Code, a trial court has an affirmative obligation to resolve Mr. Simmons' concerns with the PSR before imposing sentence:

The department shall provide the presentence investigation report to the defendant's attorney, or the defendant if not represented by counsel, the prosecutor, and the court for review, three working days prior to sentencing. Any alleged inaccuracies in the presentence investigation report, which have not been resolved by the parties and the department prior to sentencing, shall be brought to the attention of the sentencing judge, and the judge may grant an additional 10 working days to resolve the alleged inaccuracies of the report with the department. If after 10 working days the inaccuracies cannot be resolved, *the court shall make a determination of relevance and accuracy on the record.*

Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1 (emphasis added). The trial court failed to make this required finding. "Once a defendant alleges to the district court that a PSR contains unresolved 'factual inaccuracies,' the court '*must* do three things: first, consider the objection raised; second, make findings on the record regarding the accuracy of the information at issue; and third, determine on the record the relevance of that information as it relates to sentencing.'" *Abelon*, 2016 UT App 22, ¶ 19 (quoting *State v. Monroe*, 2015 UT App 48, ¶ 6, 345 P.3d 755) (emphasis in original); *State v. Jaeger*, 1999 UT 1, ¶ 44, 973 P.2d 404 ("section 77-18-1(6)(a)

requires the sentencing judge to consider the party's objections to the report, make findings on the record as to whether the information objected to is accurate, and determine on the record whether that information is relevant to the issue of sentencing"); *State v. Waterfield*, 2011 UT App 27, ¶ 8, 248 P.3d 57 ("The sentencing judge is required to consider the party's objections to the report, make findings on the record as to whether the information objected to is accurate, and determine on the record whether that information is relevant to the issue of sentencing") (internal quotations and citation omitted); *Monroe*, 2015 UT App 48, ¶ 6.

In this case, like in *Abelon*, the district court considered Mr. Simmon's objections, but it "failed to make findings on the record as section 77-18-1(6)(a) requires." *Abelon*, 2016 UT App 22, ¶ 20; *State v. Maroney*, 2004 UT App 206, ¶ 27, 94 P.3d 295. The trial court "has a legal duty to properly resolve defendant's objections" to the PSR before proceeding to sentencing. *State v. Kohl*, 2000 UT 35, ¶ 35, 999 P.2d 7. The court did not comport with this duty, which necessitates reversal.

"This court has emphasized that these findings "must be made on the record because the PSR 'may be utilized in future settings, such as parole hearings.'" *Abelon*, 2016 UT App 22, ¶ 20 (quoting *Waterfield*, 2011 UT App 27, ¶ 11); *Monroe*, 2015 UT App 48, ¶¶ 7, 10 ("the PSI will follow Defendant through the justice system, and it is important to make appropriate corrections to the report"). Mr. Simmons reminded the district court of this issue on several occasions—he

knew that an inaccurate PSR could affect his ability to obtain parole, for example—yet the court failed to make findings as to the report’s accuracy, or even discuss Mr. Simmons’ specific objections to the report.

Even the court’s review of Mr. Simmons’ objections did not meet this standard. First, as Mr. Simmons told the court, most of the information was contained in a 110-page questionnaire he gave to AP&P, which appears to not be a part of the court record. R. 99, 124, 140-43. Mr. Simmons summarized much of that documentation, but the court failed to consider the material Mr. Simmons wanted it to. For example, Mr. Simmons contended that virtually the entire PSR was inaccurate—that it overstated his prior criminal history, that it failed to account for treatment efforts he had made, that it failed to account for his positive educational and employment history, among other things. He claimed the report did not comport with the 2015 sentencing guidelines. *See e.g.*, R. 172-237. Despite these clear complaints, the court somehow believed that Mr. Simmons failed to challenge the accuracy of the report. R. 278. Even during the sentencing proceeding itself, Mr. Simmons told the court that the document was not accurate and gave the court some specific examples, such as an inaccurate notation of a failed probation attempt. R. 273, 278-82.

Second, even had the court gone so far as to agree to “accept the additional corrections,” which in this case it did not, it still would “not satisfy its duty to resolve objections to the PSI on the record.” *Waterfield*, 2011 UT App 27, ¶ 9. The court only noted that it had reviewed Mr. Simmons’ materials and that it was

declining to act further. The court merely relied on its view of the evidence presented by Mr. Simmons and told him he could continue to raise the same concerns about accuracy down the road. R. 283.

The court must do more than review Mr. Simmons' material as part of its sentence. "Statements concerning the court's view of the defendant and the case in general prior to sentencing, as was done in this case, simply do not fully meet the requirements of section 77-18-1(6)(a)." *Jaeger*, 1999 UT 1, ¶ 44; *see also Veteto*, 2000 UT 62, ¶ 15 ("Although the trial court clearly was aware of the issues and the alternative characterization urged by defendant, the trial court failed to make the specific findings on the record as mandated by the statute. In so doing, the trial court did not comply with its legal duty to properly resolve Veteto's objections").

A. IF THE COURT FINDS THAT THE ISSUE WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED, THEN THIS COURT MAY STILL REVIEW THE ISSUE UNDER THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DOCTRINE

"[T]o preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must first raise the issue in the trial court." *Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co.*, 966 P.2d 844, 847 (Utah 1998). Mr. Simmons preserved these objections at length, but most of these were pro se actions while he was represented. Nonetheless, the court indicated that it reviewed all of those documents and that it wanted to proceed with sentencing. In fact, defense counsel, while he did not file the documents, told the court to (and the court did) talk with Mr. Simmons about his issues. *See* R. 271-76. This amounted to sufficient preservation since counsel told the court to consider the issues and the

court ruled on the objection. To be preserved, an issue must be “sufficiently raised to a level of consciousness before the trial court ... [so as to give] the trial court an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it.” *State v. Santonio*, 2011 UT App 385, ¶ 29, 265 P.3d 822 (omissions and alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted), *cert. denied*, 275 P.3d 1019 (Utah 2012). Since the court knew of the issue, addressed it and ruled on it, the issue is preserved.

However, in the event counsel, since Mr. Simmons was represented, should have specifically asked the court to make findings and did not,¹ then he was ineffective. The Sixth Amendment provides a criminal defendant with the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). To establish a claim of ineffective assistance, the defendant must show that (1) his attorney’s acts or omissions “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” and (2) “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *State v. Powell*, 2007 UT 9, ¶ 45, 154 P.3d 788 (footnotes omitted); *see also State v. Holland*, 876 P.2d 357, 359 (Utah 1994) (stating “defendants are wholly dependent on the dedication of their attorneys to protect their interests and to ensure their fair treatment under the law”).

¹ Counsel asked the court to discuss Mr. Simmons’ issues with him, which was a sufficient basis to preserve the claim. R. 271-76.

As for the first point, and as demonstrated *supra*, the law is clear: the trial court has an obligation to resolve Mr. Simmons' objections on the record. This court has said, "defense counsel should have asked the district court to make findings on the record addressing the [defendant's] claimed deficiencies" in the PSR. *Monroe*, 2015 UT App 48, ¶ 11. To the extent defense counsel failed to do make this request, he was ineffective for the reasons outlined above.

As to harm, had the court complied with the law, at a minimum, Mr. Simmons would be entitled to findings as to the accuracy and relevance of the PSR to the sentencing decision. At the maximum, if the PSR is indeed as inaccurate as Mr. Simmons claims it is, then he would be entitled to resentencing.

Simmons argued the PSR vastly overstated his criminal history (such as duplicating offenses and listing dismissed offenses) and the inaccurate history appears to be the major factor governing the trial court's sentence. The court stated that its sentence (of consecutive prison terms) appeared appropriate for two reasons: Mr. Simmons history with alcohol and his decision to drive while intoxicated. R. 296-97. If, as Mr. Simmons argued, the PSR grossly inflated this history, then the trial court may well have reduced its sentence had it had accurate information. R. 175-76, 180. Thus, not only should the remand require the court to assess the objections to the PSR, but it should allow the court to resentence Mr. Simmons if those objections are sufficient to warrant an alternative sentence.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INQUIRE INTO MR. SIMMONS' DISSATISFACTION WITH APPOINTED COUNSEL

One complicating factor in the ineffective assistance claim (and related to a potential preservation issue) is that the trial court failed to inquire into a conflict of interest between Mr. Simmons and his counsel. At sentencing, defense counsel told the court that he and Mr. Simmons discussed self-representation, given Simmons' pro se filings, but counsel felt like "that's something that probably in turn Mr. Simmons would need to address with the Court directly." R. 271. This statement clearly was a request for the court to inquire into a conflict. The court did not follow that request, which was error because had it done so, it would have been able to ascertain the conflict's particulars.²

"When a defendant expresses dissatisfaction with counsel, a trial court '*must make some reasonable, non-suggestive efforts* to determine the nature of the defendant's complaints.'" *State v. Lovell*, 1999 UT 40, ¶ 27, 984 P.2d 382 (citing *State v. Pursifell*, 746 P.2d 270, 273 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (emphasis added)). When the defendant alleges dissatisfaction with trial counsel, the court must "apprise itself of the facts

² This sub-point could arguably be raised as a separate issue. However, the core claim relates to the trial court's failure to make proper findings regarding the PSR. Mr. Simmons raises this sub-point because it relates to his claims of preservation. Mr. Simmons clearly wanted multiple corrections made to the PSR, as he repeatedly contended in his pro se filings. Additionally, his counsel alerted the court that there were issues necessitating an inquiry into a potential desire for self-representation. The State may argue that Mr. Simmons did not preserve his claims because he was represented by counsel and counsel did not specifically re-articulate or re-assert claims made in the pro se filings. However, if counsel alerted the court to the fact that there was a conflict meriting further inquiry and the court failed to pursue that line of inquiry, then the preservation fault lies with the court, not with Mr. Simmons.

necessary to determine whether the defendant's relationship with his or her appointed attorney has deteriorated to the point that sound discretion requires substitution or even to such an extent that his or her Sixth Amendment right to counsel would be violated but for substitution." *Pursifell*, 746 P.2d at 273. "Even when the trial judge suspects that the defendant's requests are disingenuous and designed solely to manipulate the judicial process and to delay the trial, *perfunctory questioning is not sufficient.*" *Id.* (emphasis added); *Vessey*, 967 P.2d at 962.

Here, even after defense counsel's request, the court engaged in *no* questioning. Clearly the issue was sufficient enough for counsel to raise it with the court. Mr. Simmons filed hundreds of pages of pro se motions. In those motions, he indicated that he was having difficulty communicating with his attorney and gathering the information he needed. *See e.g.*, R. 96, 127-31. The motions raised meritorious issues (as discussed *supra*) that his counsel did not address. The court could not assess whether there was, in fact, a sufficient conflict of interest to prevent defense counsel from continuing to represent Mr. Simmons absent some sort of inquiry. This failure was an abuse of discretion. *See State v. Waterfield*, 2014 UT App 67, ¶ 10, 322 P.3d 1194, *cert. denied*, 333 P.3d 365 (Utah 2014)

In *Vessey*, this court held that the trial court's failure to address defendant's pro se ineffective assistance of counsel claims constituted per se error. 967 P.2d 960. While the Supreme Court appears to allow for a harmless error analysis in this context, *see Lovell*, 1999 UT 40, ¶ 27, the fact remains that absent a record of the conflict, which would have happened had the court questioned Mr. Simmons

as counsel asked, the court could not assess whether Mr. Simmons was entitled to substitute counsel. *Waterfield*, 2014 UT App 67, ¶ 17 n.9. Here, the trial court “did not conduct any questioning at all,” which amounted to an abuse of discretion. *Vessey*, 967 P.2d at 962.

While the record does not entirely reflect the nature of the conflict, counsel believed it merited the court’s inquiry, which ought to be sufficient basis for remand to address the issue.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Mr. Simmons asks this court to reverse and remand for the trial court to make findings regarding the accuracy and relevance of matters contained in his presentence report. If the district court on remand finds that the PSR is indeed inaccurate, the court should order that it be allowed to resentence Mr. Simmons accordingly.