2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, V, Roger Wayne Simmons,  
Defendant/ Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both before and at the time of sentencing, Simmons made broad, generalized allegations that the PSR was incorrect. But he also made several challenges to the accuracy of specific statements in the PSR. While the trial court acknowledged that Simmons had objected to the PSR, it incorrectly concluded that Simmons' complaints were *only* about AP&P's investigation and preparation of the PSR, not its factual underpinnings. Consequently, the court did not make the specific accuracy and relevancy findings required by Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(6)(a).

This Court should therefore remand the case with instructions that the trial court make the appropriate findings. Simmons' sentence, however, should not be set aside. None of the alleged PSR errors would have altered AP&P's recommendation that Simmons be sentenced to prison, nor would they have affected the trial court's decision to run the sentences consecutively with the sentence Simmons was currently serving.



## ARGUMENT

### THIS CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF RESOLVING ALLEGED INACCURACIES IN THE PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION REPORT; DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

At the sentencing hearing and in numerous pro se filings to the trial court, Simmons made broad, generalized claims that his PSR was inaccurate and erroneous because, for example, it excluded essential information, included numerous duplicate and dismissed charges in the criminal history, was written with a negative slant, insufficiently detailed his employment history, and excluded mitigating circumstances. R127-28, 139-41, 144, 151-52, 162-65, 172-73, 176, 273-76, 278-82, 286-89, 293-95, 349, 367, 369, 371-74, 386, 388-90, 399-400, 429-30, 434. He further claimed that AP&P was biased and failed to include much of the information Simmons provided that he believed would give the court a better understanding of his circumstances. R127-28, 139-44, 151-52, 162-65, 172-73, 349, 367, 369-74, 388-90. He asserted—again, without specifics—that the PSR was rife with errors and completely incorrect. *Id.*

But buried in the “voluminous documents” he filed, Simmons also made several accuracy challenges to specific parts of the PSR. He asserted, for example, that the PSR inaccurately stated that he (1) was guilty in 2000

of simple assault, a class B misdemeanor, and sent to jail, when in fact it was a plea in abeyance with no jail time; (2) failed to disclose his prior offenses and refused to take responsibility for his current offense; (3) had other commitments besides the one in 2004; (4) had been in accidents that resulted in property damage; (5) had a history of domestic violence; (6) surrounded himself with individuals involved in criminal activity; (7) had not provided verification for his high school diploma; and (8) only stayed in touch with his mother. R145, 175-76, 202, 293-94, 309, 316, 319-20, 380-84, 411. *See also* Aplt. Br. at 3-5.<sup>3</sup>

On appeal, Simmons argues that the trial court failed to address his challenges to the accuracy of the PSR and did not make specific findings on the record as required under section 77-18-1(6)(a). *See* Aplt. Br. at 8, 10-12.

---

<sup>3</sup>Simmons also raises other alleged inaccuracies that do not have record support. For example, he says that the PSR falsely states that he consumed alcohol while under supervision and failed random drug tests. Aplt. Br. at 4. But no citation to the PSR is provided and the State has been unable to find these statements in the PSR. He also alleges that "he should have only had three priors: two prior third degree felony DUIs, one from 2004 and one from 2011 in which he successfully finished probation. He said he should only have one class A misdemeanor in 2004." *Id.* But the PSR says he has "two felony convictions," R309, though none from 2011, and one class A misdemeanor in 2004. R320. Finally, Simmons alleges that the PSR inaccurately states that his lack of education is a risk factor for criminality and that he has employment risks. *Id.* at 4-5. But again, no citation to the PSR is provided and the State has been unable to find these statements in the PSR.

He contends—without citation to any authority—that the court’s failure “necessitates reversal.” *Id.* at 10. *See also id.* at 8 (suggesting—without argument—that “the effect of the court’s errors may well require resentencing.”).<sup>4</sup>

Section 77-18-1 requires a trial court to “make a determination of relevance and accuracy on the record” of any alleged inaccuracies in the PSR. Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(6)(a). Once a defendant alleges that his PSR contains unresolved “‘factual inaccuracies,’ the court ‘must do three things: first, consider the objection raised; second, make findings on the record regarding the accuracy of the information at issue; and third, determine on the record the relevance of that information as it relates to sentencing.’”

---

<sup>4</sup>Simmons also argues that “[i]n the event the State were to assert” that the issue of his PSR objections was not preserved, then this Court must consider whether (1) trial counsel was ineffective for not asking the trial court to make the required finding, and (2) the trial court abused its discretion when it allegedly failed to inquire into a potential conflict of interest between counsel and Simmons. Aplt. Br. at 8-9. But the State is not asserting that the PSR objections issue is unpreserved. “‘An issue is preserved for appeal when it has been presented to the district court in such a way that the court has an opportunity to rule on [it].’” *Brown v. State*, 2015 UT App 254, ¶20, 361 P.3d 124 (quoting *Winward v. State*, 2012 UT 85, ¶9, 293 P.3d 259) (alteration in original) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Here, the trial court was fully aware of Simmons’ objections, had an opportunity to rule on the issue, but mistakenly concluded that Simmons was not alleging any factual inaccuracies. R277-78. As Simmons himself suggests, because the PSR objections issue was properly preserved, this Court need not address his counsel-ineffectiveness and conflict of interest issues. *See* Aplt. Br. at 8-9, 12-13.

*State v. Abelon*, 2016 UT App 22, ¶19, 369 P.3d 113 (emphasis in original) (quoting *State v. Monroe*, 2015 UT App 48, ¶6, 345 P.3d 755). If the court fails to do so, “the proper remedy is to remand [the] case to the trial court with instructions that it expressly resolve [defendant’s] objections in full compliance with section 77-18-1(6)(a).” *State v. Jaeger*, 1999 UT 1, ¶45, 973 P.2d 404.

Here, the trial court acknowledged that Simmons objected to the PSR, but concluded that his complaints went only to AP&P’s investigation and preparation of the PSR, not its factual underpinnings. R277-78, 283. Simmons, however, had made a handful of challenges to the accuracy of the PSR. See R145, 175-76, 202, 293-94, 309, 316, 319-20, 380-84, 411. Because the trial court mistakenly determined that none of Simmons’ objections were about factual inaccuracies, it did not make the accuracy and relevancy findings required by section 77-18-1(6)(a). The State therefore agrees that the case should be remanded to allow the trial court to “make the specific findings on the record as mandated by the statute.” *State v. Veteto*, 2000 UT 62, ¶15, 6 P.3d 1133.

But a “district court’s failure to fully resolve a defendant’s objections to a [PSR] does not necessarily require reversal of the defendant’s sentence.” *State v. Post*, 2015 UT App 162, ¶11, 354 P.3d 810 (citing *Jaeger*, 1999 UT 1,

¶45). This is particularly so when a defendant “fails to explain how resolution of the alleged errors in his favor might have affected the outcome of his sentence.” *Id.* Here, Simmons makes only three conclusory assertions that he should be resentenced. *See* Appt. Br. at 8, 10, 17 (“the effect of the court’s errors may well require resentencing”; the “court did not comport with [its] duty, which necessitates reversal”; if trial court “on remand finds that the PSR is indeed inaccurate, the court should order that it be allowed to resentence Mr. Simmons accordingly”). He nowhere provides any reasoned analysis establishing that a favorable resolution of his objections would necessitate resentencing. *See State v. Waterfield*, 2011 UT App 27, ¶¶10-11, 248 P.3d 57 (remanding for trial court to resolve alleged inaccuracies in PSR but affirming sentence because defendant inadequately briefed his argument that he should be resentenced).

In any event, the record shows that resolving Simmons’ objections in his favor would not alter the trial court’s sentencing decision. Simmons was already incarcerated on a prior third-degree felony DUI when he was sentenced in the present case. R278. And while his case was pending, he reoffended and was charged with another third-degree felony DUI. R311. In addition, although Simmons has challenged limited portions of his criminal history, he nowhere contests that he has an alcohol abuse problem and a

penchant for driving while intoxicated. R296.

Against this backdrop, the trial court stated that “the only substantive question for me to answer under these circumstances is whether or not you receive a sentence of prison that be ordered to be served concurrently or consecutively to the sentence that you are currently serving.” R278. The court expressly rejected a sentence of jail or probation. R278. In considering the appropriate punishment, the dispositive issue for the court was Simmons’ “desire to drive while . . . under the influence of alcohol. And that is my compelling concern because I have an obligation to protect the community.” R297. Under these circumstances, even if all Simmons’ objections were resolved in his favor—including those addressing his criminal history, whether his crimes resulted in property damage, and whether he takes responsibility for his actions—none of them would have altered the trial court’s central concern that society be protected from Simmons predilection for drinking while intoxicated.

In sum, the State agrees that Simmons’ case should be remanded to allow the trial court to resolve on the record Simmons’ objections to the PSR. But because even a favorable resolution of his objections would not alter the trial court’s sentence, this Court should affirm the trial court’s decision to send Simmons to prison and run his sentences consecutively

with the prison term he is already serving.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the court should affirm.